ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 3 ZANE FLOYD, 4 Appellant, 5 vs. 6 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 7 Respondent. 8

Case No. 44868

JUL 1 5 2005

JANETTE M. BLOOM CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST CONVICTION)

14 15

16

17

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

9

10

11

12

13

DAVID M. SCHIECK CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER Nevada Bar #0824 333 South Third Street, 2nd Floor Las Vegas NV 89155-2316 (702) 455-6265

DAVID ROGER CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA DISTRICT ATTORNEY Nevada Bar #2781 200 South Third Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 8, 1999 FLOYD was charged by way of Criminal Complaint with four counts of Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon, three counts of Attempt Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon, five counts of Sexual Assault With Use of a Deadly Weapon, and one count of Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm, and First Degree Kidnapping With Use of FLOYD waived his Preliminary Hearing, a Deadly Weapon. (1 APP 80) and was arraigned on July 6, 1999 before District Court Judge Jeffrey (2 APP 290) On the same date the State filed a Notice of Sobel. Intent to Seek the Death Penalty alleging six different aggravating circumstances, to wit: prior felony conviction, risk of harm to more than one person; during the commission of a burglary, torture or mutilation; random and without apparent motive and more than one count of murder. (1 APP 1-9)

Trial commenced on July 11, 2000 and concluded on July 13, 2000 with the jury returning guilty verdicts on all eleven counts. (2 APP 303-305) FLOYD was represented by Curtis Brown and Doug Hedger of the Clark County Public Defender's Office at trial. The penalty hearing was held before the jury from July 17, 2000 through July 19, 2000 (2 APP 306-308) and on July 21, 2000 the jury sentenced Floyd to death on each of the Murder counts. (2 APP 309) After his conviction, Floyd filed a Motion for New trial based on prosecutorial misconduct which was denied on August 21, 2000. (1 APP 24-41)

FLOYD'S conviction and sentence were affirmed by the Nevada Supreme Court on March 13, 2002. <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 156, 42 P.3d 249 (2002). An Order Denying Rehearing was entered on May 7, 2002. (1 APP 69-70) Floyd filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Supreme Court which was denied on February 24,

NEVADA

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

2003. Remittitur issued on March 10, 2003. (1 APP 71)

On June 19, 2003 FLOYD filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction) (1 APP 72-78) and thereafter on October 6, 2004 appointed counsel filed a Supplemental Petition and Points and Authorities in Support of the Petition. (1 APP 79-117) The State responded in Opposition on December 7, 2004 (2 APP 118-271) and the matter came on for argument on January 18, 2005 at which time the District Court denied the petition without an evidentiary hearing. (2 APP 272-275) Written Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order were entered on February 2, 2005 (2 APP 276-286) and served on attorney for FLOYD on February 25, 2005. (2 APP 287)

FLOYD timely filed a Notice of Appeal on March 9, 2005. (2 APP 288-289)

SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For purposes of this Brief Appellant ZANE FLOYD (hereinafter referred to as FLOYD) will incorporate the Facts from the decision of this Court on the direct appeal:

"Early in the morning on June 3, 1999, Floyd telephoned an 'outcall' service and asked that a young woman be As a result, a twenty-yeardispatched to his apartment. old woman came to Floyd's apartment around 3:30 a.m. soon as she arrived, Floyd threatened her with a shotgun and forced her to engage in vaginal intercourse, anal intercourse, digital penetration, and fellatio. At one point he ejected a live shell from the gun, showed it to the woman, and said that her name was on it. Eventually Floyd put on Marine Corps camouflage clothing and said that he was going to go out and kill the first people that he He told the woman that he had left his smaller gun in a friend's vehicle or he could have shot her. he told her she had 60 seconds to run or be killed. woman ran from the apartment, and around 5:00 a.m. Floyd took his shotgun and began to walk to an Albertson's supermarket which was about fifteen minutes by foot from his apartment.

Floyd arrived at the supermarket at about 5:15 a.m. store's security videotape showed that immediately after entering the store, he shot Thomas Michael Darnell in the back, killing him. After that he shot and killed two more people, Carlos Chuck Leos and Dennis Try Sargeant. then encountered Zachary T. Emenegger, who attempted to Floyd chased him and shot him twice. Floyd then him and said, leaned over `Yeah, you're dead,′ Floyd then went to the rear of the Emenegger survived. store where he shot Lucille Alice Tarantino in the head and killed her.

As Floyd walked out the front door of the store, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (LVMPD) officers were waiting for him. He went back in the store for a few seconds and then came out again pointing the shotgun at his own head. After a police officer spoke with him for several minutes, Floyd put the gun down, was taken into custody, and admitted to officers that he had shot the people in the store...." (1 APP 45-46)

SUMMARY OF PENALTY HEARING

The Court also summarized the evidence at the penalty phase of the trial as follows:

"Floyd presented a number of witnesses to testify in

SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

mitigation. A family friend and a coworker both testified that they knew him to be a good person and that the person who committed the crimes in this case was not the Zane Floyd they knew. The coworker and Floyd's stepfather testified respectively that when they met Zane in jail immediately after the crimes he was 'like a zombie' and 'wasn't there.' His stepfather also told of Floyd's difficulties and behavioral problems in school and of how well he later did in the marine Corps. A former Marine who served with Floyd as an instructor in combat training school testified that Floyd was the best instructor, that 'in the field, he would be a perfect marine,' but that 'on his own' he did not do well.

Floyd's close friend testified that he and Floyd began using marijuana and methamphetamine when they were fifteen or sixteen. The friend testified that Floyd's mother was often intoxicated and that on Floyd's sixteenth birthday his stepfather played drinking games with Floyd and his friends. After Floyd returned from the Marines, his friend reintroduced him to methamphetamine, which they sometimes used without sleeping for several days.

Floyd's mother testified about her own drug and alcohol abuse and the loss of her first child, which caused her to drink even more. When she became pregnant with Floyd, her husband was displeased, they separated, and he filed for divorce just before Floyd's birth. She described Floyd's learning and behavioral problems as a child. She also spoke about how he played baseball and loved animals.

A clinical social worker and psychoanalyst conducted a psychosocial evaluation of Floyd and testified to the following. Floyd's mother had used various controlled substances abused alcohol. and Floyd's stepfather also abused alcohol and was sometimes violent Floyd had difficulties in school towards Floyd's mother. and began fifteen and using drinking when he was methamphetamine when he was sixteen. He enlisted in the Marine Corps at age seventeen. After four years he was honorably discharged on condition that he not reenlist because of his alcohol problems. When he was twenty-two, Floyd attempted to contact his biological father, who refused any contact. Returning home from the military, Floyd lived with his parents. He had no driver's license because of a DUI. He worked for a short time at Costco, but was terminated. he then obtained employment as a security guard, but lost that job in May 1999. month his cousin was killed, which affected him and other family members deeply.

Psychologist Dr. Dougherty testified and gave his opinion that Floyd

suffers from the mental disease of mixed

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

personality disorder with borderline, paranoid, and depressive features. In addition, the prior diagnosis confirmed of attention hyperactivity disorder....It's opinion...that Mr. Floyd's reasoning was impaired as to rational thought at times, and at times he did not act knowingly and purposely at the time of the alleged incident. His symptoms were exacerbated by a long history of the ingestion of drugs and alcohol.

Floyd spoke in allocution and took responsibility for what he had done ad said he could not tell why he did it. he said he was sorry and would regret his actions for the rest of his life." (1 APP 65-57)

Floyd v. State, 118 Nev. 156, 162, 42 P.3d 249 (2002)

10

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER

ARGUMENT

I.

IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION TO DENY FLOYD AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS PETITION FOR POST CONVICTION HABEAS CORPUS

It has long been the holding of this Court that, if a petition for post-conviction relief contains allegations of facts outside the record, which, if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief, an evidentiary hearing is required. Bolden v. State, 99 Nev. 181, 659 P.2d 886 (1983); Grondin v. State, 97 Nev. 454, 634 P.2d 456 (1981); Doggett v. State, 91 Nev. 768, 542 P.2d 1066 (1975).

Oft times in denying requests for post conviction evidentiary hearings the trial court merely bases its decision on the perceived strength of the State's case at trial without considering the allegations of the Petition. Allegations concerning failure to oppose a State's motion have been found sufficient to mandate an evidentiary hearing. For instance in <u>Drake v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 523, 836 P.2d 52 (1992) the Court remanded the case for an evidentiary over the State's objection where counsel had not adequately opposed a Motion in Limine filed by State. The purpose of such a hearing was to determine if counsel had sufficient cause for the noted failure. <u>Drake</u>, 108 Nev. at 527-28.

The District Court abused it's discretion and failed to follow the established guidelines of this Court in denying FLOYD'S request for an evidentiary hearing. The Supplemental Petition filed by FLOYD raised a number of issues concerning the failures of trial counsel and appellate counsel to object and/or raise issues in the direct appeal. Only by holding a evidentiary hearing wherein counsel can explain the reasons, if any, for their failures can this Court examine the claims.

Without such a hearing it would be pure speculation or conjecture to find that there was a strategic basis for the failures. It is respectfully urged that this Court remand the case with direction that the case be reassigned to a different District Court and that an evidentiary hearing be conducted on the allegations of FLOYD'S Petition.

SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER

1

3 4

5 6

7 8

9 10

11

1213

14 15

16

17

18

19 20

21

2223

24

2526

27 28

FLOYD RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The Sixth Amendment guarantees that a person accused of a crime receive effective assistance of counsel for his defense. The right extends from the time the accused is charged up to and through his direct appeal and includes effective assistance for any arguable legal points. Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d The United State Supreme Court has consistently 493 (1967). recognized that the right to counsel is necessary to protect the fundamental right to a fair trial, guaranteed under the Fourteenth Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 Amendment's Due Process Clause. S.Ct.55, 77 L.Ed. 158 (1932); <u>Gideon v. Wainwright</u>, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963). Mere presence of counsel does not fulfill the constitutional requirement. The right to counsel is the right to effective counsel, that is, "an attorney who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984); McMann v. Richardson, 439 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S.Ct. 1441, 25 L.Ed.2d. 763 (1970).

Pre-trial investigation is a critical area in any criminal case and failure to accomplish same has been held to constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. The Nevada Supreme Court in <u>Jackson v. Warden</u>, 91 Nev. 430, 537 P.2d 473 (1975) stated:

"It is still recognized that a primary requirement is that counsel...conduct careful factual and legal investigations and inquiries with a view toward developing matters of defense in order that he make informed decisions on his client's behalf both at the pleading stage...and at trial."

<u>Jackson</u> 91 Nev. at 433, 537 P.2d at 474. The Federal Courts are in

accord that pre-trial investigation and preparation for trial are a key to effective representation of counsel. <u>U.S. v. Tucker</u>, 716 F.2d 576 (1983). A lawyer who fails to adequately investigate, and to introduce into evidence, records that demonstrate his client's factual innocence, or that raise sufficient doubt as to that question to undermine confidence in the verdict, renders deficient performance. <u>Hart v. Gomez</u>, 174 F.3d 1067, 1070 (9th Cir. 1999). <u>See also, Evans v. Lewis</u>, 855 F.2d 631 (9th Cir. 1988) holding that a failure to investigate possible evidence could not be deemed a trial tactic where the lawyer did not view relevant documents that were available.

In <u>U.S. v. Baynes</u>, 687 F.2d 659 (1982) the Court, in language applicable to this case, stated:

appointed or "Defense counsel, whether retained potential obligated inquire thoroughly into all to exculpatory defenses and evidence, mere possibility that investigation might have produced nothing of consequences for the defense could not serve as justification for trial defense counsel's failure to perform such investigations in Fact that defense counsel may have the first place. performed impressively at trial would not have excused failure to investigate defense that might have led to complete exoneration of the Defendant."

In <u>Warner v. State</u>, 102 Nev. 635, 729 P.2d 1359 (1986) the Nevada Supreme Court found that trial counsel was ineffective where counsel failed to conduct adequate pre-trial investigation, failed to properly utilize the Public Defender's full time investigator, neglected to consult with other attorneys although urged to do so, and failed to prepare for the testimony of defense witnesses. <u>See also</u>, <u>Sanborn v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279 (1991).

To establish ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must satisfy the two prongs set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). Under <u>Strickland</u>, a defendant must

SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

12 13

11

15 16

14

17 18

19

20 21

22

23

24 25

26

27

28

first show that his counsel's performance was deficient. To be deficient, counsel's performance must be "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance" <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690. Upon establishing deficient performance, a defendant must then show that this deficient performance prejudiced his defense. The defendant need not show that the deficient performance more likely than not altered the outcome of the case, but must demonstrate only a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id., at 694.

In his Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus FLOYD alleged that his conviction and death sentence are invalid under the State and Federal constitutional guarantee of effective assistance of counsel, due process of law, equal protection of the laws, crossexamination and confrontation and a reliable sentence due to the failure of trial and appellate counsel to provide reasonably effective assistance of counsel. United States Constitution Amendments 5, 6, 8, and 14; Nevada Constitution Article I, Sections 3, 6 and 8; Article IV, Section 21. (1 APP 79-117)

The Petition filed by FLOYD contained numerous specific allegations of deficient performance by trial and appellate counsel, but the District Court refused to grant FLOYD an evidentiary hearing. (2 APP 272-275) Not only should the District Court have granted an evidentiary hearing, FLOYD was entitled to relief. The following grounds mandated that his conviction and sentence be set aside:

A. Trial counsel failed to make contemporaneous objections on valid issues during trial and appellate counsel failed to raise these

issues on direct appeal, both failures being in violation of FLOYD'S' rights under the Sixth Amendment to effective counsel and under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to due process and a fundamentally fair trial.

FLOYD submits that trial counsel was per se ineffective in not preserving the following appellate issues and that therefore only the prejudice prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test remained to be considered. The failure of trial counsel to make contemporaneous objection prevented FLOYD from receiving meaningful review on direct appeal from his conviction and sentence.

(1) <u>Improper argument during the Opening Statement at the Penalty Hearing</u>.

During the Opening Statement at the penalty hearing the prosecutor made the following improper arguments to the jury, telling the jury that mitigating circumstances are nothing more than "excuses":

"You have mitigating circumstances. Those are not really statutory in nature, although there are a few, but they can be anything -- they can be the age or youth of the offender, the lack of criminal history, psychosis, drinking, drug abuse, poor upbringing, good upbringing, whatever the defense wishes to bring out in the form of, they would say, explanation -- I would categorize as excuses -- for the conduct that was committed on June the 3rd." (7 APP 2013)

"MR. KOOT: I was discussing the statutory aggravating circumstances, which you will weigh against whatever <u>mitigating excuses</u> that he offers you during the case today and tomorrow." (emphasis added) (7 APP 2014)

The prosecutor during his opening statement also expressed his personal opinion and that of District Attorney Bell that the death

penalty was the appropriate penalty in the case, stating:

"By tomorrow -- and I believe it will be tomorrow -- we will end this -- the attorneys will end this portion of the case, they'll be submitted to you, and I trust that you will agree with Mr. Bell and myself that for his crimes he deserves what is in this case a just penalty of death." (7 APP 2018) (Emphasis added)

The failure to object to the above listed statements during the State's Opening and the failure to raise same on direct appeal denied FLOYD of Due Process and a fundamentally fair trial. <u>Donnelly v. DeChristoforo</u>, 416 U.S. 637 (1974).

The prosecutor, without objection, also argued victim impact information during his Opening Statement at the trial phase. Specifically he stated:

"...the next person he confronted was a fellow by the name of Chuck Leos. Chuck Leos was 41, just celebrated his first anniversary to his wife, Leanne. He was the frozen food man. He shot him on the right side, in the neck and the fact; two shots from that shotgun." (3 APP 1357) (emphasis added)

and further the prosecutor told the jury:

"He went into the back room area and found the only person that wasn't hiding that didn't realize what was going on. Her name was Lucy Tarantino. She was in her early Sixties. She was a wife, mother of three, grandmother. She was the salad lady. It was her job to get the salad stuff ready. He told the police about that confrontation." (3 APP 1359)

It is well established that victim impact testimony is highly prejudicial and not relevant during the trial portion of a criminal proceedings. Nonetheless trial counsel completely failed to object and prevent the prosecutor from referring to victim impact during his opening statement. Making such statements during opening statement is highly prejudicial and taints receipt of the other evidence in a case. Such information may be admissible at the penalty hearing, but not before. Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115

L.Ed.2d 720 (1991); <u>Homick v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 127, 136, 825 P.2d 600 (1992).

In the essence the prosecutor was able to poison the jury against FLOYD from the Opening Statement thereby prejudicing the jury before any evidence was presented. Likewise introducing victim impact at trial allowed the State in essence to present much of it's penalty hearing case before the jury had even returned a verdict of guilt.

(2) The statutory scheme adopted by Nevada fails to properly limit victim impact statements.

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