IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

1

3

4

5

ZANE FLOYD,

_

6

7

v.

8

Ω

9

10

11

12

13 14

15

16

17

18

19

20

2122

23

24

25

26

2728

Counsel for Appellant

Case No. 44868

FILED

OCT 18 2005

JANETTE M. BLOOM CLERK OF SUPREME COURT DEPUTY CLERK

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DAVID M. SCHIECK Clark County Special Public Defender Nevada Bar No. 000824 333 South Third Street, 2nd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 - 2316 (702) 455-6265

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

The prosecutor, during his opening statement at trial, commented about Lucy Tarantino, one of the Appellant's victims, that "[s]he was in her early sixties. She was a wife, mother of three, grandmother. She was the salad lady. It was her job to get the salad

. 26

stuff ready." (AA, vol. 3 at 1359). This information is not victim impact information, but is a reference to the victim's general background. The prosecutor did not address the pain of Mrs. Tarantino's family, and did not, in detail, address any specifics regarding Mrs. Tarantino's life. The prosecutor was simply creating a picture of the victim in this case, including a glimpse of her home life, and the career that she chose. This was not a victim impact statement and therefore, defense counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to its introduction.

Appellant also argues that the prosecutor's remarks about Chuck Leos were victim impact statements and therefore improper. This argument is without merit. During his opening statement at trial, the prosecutor stated "Chuck Leos was 41, just celebrated his first anniversary to his wife, Leanne. He was the frozen food man." (AA, vol. 3 at 1357). The information that was provided to the jury was not information about holidays that Mr. Leos would no longer celebrate with his family, which the Nevada Supreme Court has held improper, but was background information that the Nevada Supreme Court has held is admissible. See Libby v. State, 109 Nev. 905, 915, 859 P.2d 1050, 1057 (1993). With this information, the prosecutor was able to establish for the jury Mr. Leos' career, and the fact that he was married. There was no mention of the loss that his wife has suffered or will suffer in the future, there was no mention of the children that the couple will no longer be able to conceive, and there was no mention of the impact that this tragedy had, or will have, on the remaining members of his family. These statements were statements about the general background of two of the victims in this case; they were glimpses of lives that no longer exist. They were not victim impact statements and therefore were not improper.

Even if the Court finds that these prosecutorial statements were inappropriate under the circumstances, no prejudice resulted to Appellant. Guilt phase Instruction No. 6 admonished the jurors that, "[s]tatements, arguments and opinions of counsel are not evidence in the case." (RA 180). "A jury is presumed to follow its instructions," and there is no evidence that it did not do so in this case. Weeks v. Angelone, 528 U.S. 225, 120 S.Ct. 727 (2000). Further, "[i]f the issue of guilt or innocence is close, if the state's case is not

strong, [erroneous prosecutorial statements] will probably be considered prejudicial." Garner v. State, 78 Nev. 366, 374, 374 P.2d 525, 530 (1962). However, "if a guilty verdict was free from doubt, even aggravated prosecutorial remarks will not justify reversal." Flanagan v. State, 104 Nev. 105, 107, 754 P.2d 836, 837 (1988). There was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt presented in this trial. The jurors were able to weigh the evidence, credit the statements of witnesses, and come to their own conclusions. Based on the evidence presented by the State, the jury's verdict is free from doubt and therefore, none of the cited prosecutorial statements will justify reversal.

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

2. Appellant was not prejudiced by the statutory scheme in Nevada addressing victim impact statements because the district court severely limited such statements.

Appellant asserts that the statutory scheme in Nevada fails to properly limit victim impact statements. To the extent that this issue was raised on direct appeal, it is law of the case. Where an issue has already been decided on the merits by the Nevada Supreme Court, the Court's ruling is law of the case, and the issue will not be revisited. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001); see McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 990 P.2d 1263, 1276 (1999); Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 315-16, 535 P.2d 797, 798-99 (1975); see also Valerio v. State, 112 Nev. 383, 386, 915 P.2d 874, 876 (1996); Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 860 P.2d 710 (1993). The law of a first appeal is the law of the case in all later appeals in which the facts are substantially the same; this doctrine cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument. Hall supra; see also McNelton supra; Hogan supra.

On direct appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court held:

Victim impact testimony is permitted at a capital penalty proceeding under NRS 175.552(3) and under federal due process standards, but it must be excluded if it renders the proceeding fundamentally unfair. Leonard v. State, 114 Nev. 1196, 1214, 969 P.2d 288, 300 (1998). The United States Supreme Court has stated that victim impact evidence during a capital penalty hearing is relevant to show each victim's 'uniqueness as an individual human being.' Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 823, 111 S.Ct. 2597 (1991). Admissibility of testimony during the penalty phase of a capital trial is a question within the district court's discretion, and this court reviews only for abuse of discretion.

Floyd v. State, 118 Nev. 156, 174, 42 P.3d 249, 261 (2002).

28

4

8

6

10

11 12 13

14 15

16 17

18 19

20

21 22

23

24

25 26

27

28

The Nevada Supreme Court held that the limiting of the victim impact statements to one per victim and individuals who would testify in regard to the great risk of death aggravator was not improper.

Floyd also complains that the district court denied his motion to allow only one victim impact witness for each murder victim and to exclude other testimony. In fact, the court granted the motion in regard to limiting victim impact witnesses to one per murder victim. The court also ruled that other people who were at the scene of the murders could testify, not as victims but in regard to the great-risk-of-death aggravator and the nature of the murders. Floyd has not shown that there was anything improper about the court's ruling.

Floyd, 118 Nev. at 175, 42 P.3d at 262. To the extent that Appellant now raises these same issues; they are barred by law of the case and should be denied.

However, if the court determines that this issue should be addressed on the merits, the following arguments would apply. In Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S.Ct. 2597 (1991), the United States Supreme Court held "[t]he State has a legitimate interest in counteracting the mitigating evidence which the defendant is entitled to put in, by reminding the sentencer that just as the murderer should be considered as an individual, so too the victim is an individual whose death represents a unique loss to society and in particular to his family." Id. at 825. Therefore, the United States Supreme Court has held that there is no per se bar to the introduction on victim impact statements. <u>Id.</u> at 827.

In the case at bar, the victim impact statements were extremely limited and were appropriate under the circumstances. The district court ruled that the victim impact statements would be limited to "one per victim." (AA, vol. 7 at 2003). In this case, there were four murders and one individual, Zachary Emenegger, who was seriously injured. Zachary Emenegger was not recalled to the stand during the penalty phase of the trial, each victim's family was given one opportunity to tell the jury how this tragedy has affected their lives, and only two of the more than twenty individuals held hostage in the store were permitted to speak. (AA, vol. 7 at 2045-2093). The statements in this case therefore were not cumulative, were not prejudicial, and were within the realm of the United States Supreme Court's ruling in Payne v. Tennessee.

6

12

11

14 15

13

16

17 18

19 20

21

22 23

24

25 26

27

28

Appellant has suffered no prejudice because all victim impact statements were limited to one witness per victim and only two of the more than twenty individuals who were held hostage. The State had the right under Payne v. Tennessee to introduce some victim impact evidence. This evidence was minimized by the court, was not cumulative, and therefore caused no prejudice to Appellant. Appellant has failed to show how the statutory scheme in Nevada regarding victim impact statements prejudiced him, especially since the statements were specifically limited here by the district court.

Appellant further argues that, "[t]rial counsel filed [sic] to limit the presentation of victim impact evidence," (Appellant's brief, p. 16), but that claim too is belied by the record. Before any victim impact testimony was presented in this case, defense counsel filed a motion with the district court seeking to bar cumulative victim impact evidence. (AA, vol. 7 at 2001); (RA 165)(Defendant's motion/cumulative victim impact). Pursuant to this motion, the district court ruled that it would limit the victim impact statements to the survivors of the dead victims at a rate of one per victim, and the eyewitness testimony or impact statements to individuals who "can give credence to the State's aggravating theory." (AA, vol. 7 at 2003). According to the United States Supreme Court, the prosecution has the right to counteract defendant's mitigating evidence with evidence that reminds the sentencer that each individual lost in a tragedy is a loss to the individual's family and to society as a whole. In Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S.Ct. 2597 (1991), the United States Supreme Court held "[t]he State has a legitimate interest in counteracting the mitigating evidence which the defendant is entitled to put in, by reminding the sentencer that just as the murderer should be considered as an individual, so too the victim is an individual whose death represents a unique loss to society and in particular to his family." Id. at 825. Due to trial counsel's motion in this case, the victim impact evidence was extremely limited. Appellant cannot now argue that his trial counsel, who was successful in severely limiting the victim impact evidence in this case, should have objected to the introduction of all victim impact testimony. Appellant's trial counsel sought and received the most limited introduction of

5

12 13

14

15 16

17 18

19

20 21

22

23

24

25 26

27

28

this evidence possible under the circumstances. Therefore, trial counsel was not ineffective and this claim should be denied.

3. The prosecutor did not improperly appeal to the passions and prejudice of the jury, did not impermissibly denigrate mitigating factors; and to the extent these arguments were raised on direct appeal, they are law of the case.

Appellant asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to certain remarks made by prosecutors during the penalty phase opening statements that allegedly appealed to the passions and prejudice of the jury and denigrated the proper consideration of mitigating factors. Throughout the course of this case, however, Defendant's trial and appellate counsel have been diligent in their efforts to identify, curb, and cite instances of colorable prosecutorial misconduct. Notably, trial counsel was so attuned to the potential for misconduct and improper argument that a preemptive motion in limine was filed; which was, in fact, a veritable treatise on the issue consisting of nearly a hundred pages. See, (RA 57-155). Consistent with that awareness, the record certainly is not barren of trial counsel's objections to prosecutorial actions of one variety or another.

Defendant's appellate counsel followed trial counsel's lead and, in the Opening Brief on direct appeal, dedicated issue headings VI and VII to alleged misconduct during closing argument and presentation of victim impact testimony. (RA 48-54). In that document, it appears that appellate counsel focused attacks on those few instances with the highest percentage of success consistent with the exercise of professional discretion. Appellate attorneys are well advised to argue with precision on a select group of merit-laden issues while winnowing out the weaker issues and arguments. Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 3312 (1983). Both trial and appellate counsel were mindful of, and effective in, preserving and presenting the strongest prosecutorial conduct issues available to Defendant. Therefore, Defendant has not demonstrated that trial or appellate counsel

¹ See, e.g., Appellant's Opening Brief, No. 36752, p. 42-46 (direct appeal); (referencing life in prison conditions prison objection)(RA 50-51), (violating individualized sentencing objection)(RA 51), (prosecutor allowing witness to exceed the scope of victim-impact)(RA 53).

14

15

16 17

18

19 20

21

22 23

24

25

26 27

28

committed objective error in failing to address this particular instance, or that he suffered any meaningful prejudice as a result.

Further, if the prosecutor's currently cited remarks were obvious reversible error, and any reasonable attorney would have preserved or presented the currently cited remarks consistent with Strickland,2 the court could have taken action during the direct appeal pursuant to the doctrine of plain error. NRS 178.602; Floyd v. State, 118 Nev. 156, 172 42 P.3d 249, 261-62 (2002). Defendant ensured that this Court carefully reviewed a broad range of prosecutorial conduct both in closing argument and in the penalty phase of the trial on his direct appeal. See, Floyd, supra; (RA 48-54)(Defendant's Opening Brief, issues VI and VII). Given that prosecutorial remarks are viewed in context³ to determine their prejudicial potential, it is a reasonable inference to presume that these portions of the transcript were heavily reviewed and no obviously prejudicial error was discovered. "In reviewing criminal cases, it is particularly important for appellate courts to relive the whole trial imaginatively and not to extract from episodes in isolation abstract questions of evidence and procedure. To turn a criminal trial into a quest for error no more promotes the ends of justice than to acquiesce in low standards of criminal prosecution." Johnson v. <u>United States</u>, 318 U.S. 189, 202, 63 S.Ct. 549, 555 (1943) (Frankfurter, J., concurring).

Defendant has been on an unsuccessful quest for *prejudicial* error since the moment of his conviction, but he has been, and should continue to be unsuccessful. However, counsel on direct appeal was able to bring prosecutorial error to the Court's attention effectively by citing the regrettable "worst massacre in the history of Las Vegas" remark. Floyd, 118 Nev. at 173. The comment was in error because the prosecutor violated the "elementary" tenet of refraining from arguing facts not in evidence. Id. The Court stated, "[a]ny inclination to . . . inflame the passions of the jury must be avoided. Such comments clearly exceed the bounds of proper prosecutorial conduct." Id. Critically, in the very next

² 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

³ U.S. v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 12-13 (1985).

11

12

10

13 14

15 16

17

18 19

20

21 22

24

25

23

26 27

28

sentence, the court continues by holding that "given the overwhelming evidence of Floyd's guilt, we conclude the error was harmless." Id. at 174 (emphasis added).

"If the issue . . . is close, if the state's case is not strong, [prosecutorial misconduct] will probably be considered prejudicial." See, Garner v. State, 78 Nev. 366, 374, 374 P.2d 525, 530 (1962). However, "if a [penalty] verdict was free from doubt, even aggravated prosecutorial remarks will not justify reversal." See, Flanagan v. State, 104 Nev. 105, 107, 754 P.2d 836, 837 (1988). The State established its aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt and the jury was properly instructed on, and considered, no less than seventeen mitigating circumstances before returning Defendant's penalty. (RA 222, 225)(Penalty Instruction Nos. 9A, 12). "A jury is presumed to follow its instructions." Weeks v. Angelone, 528 U.S. 225, 120 S.Ct. 727 (2000). There is no evidence that the jury disregarded its instructions due to Defendant's referenced line of prosecutorial argument, and to assert as much is speculative. Given the evident severity of these crimes, and the entire evidentiary spectacle of Defendant's deeds witnessed by this jury, it is unlikely that the penalty phase was a more closely contested issue than guilt itself. Therefore, even if Defendant's quest led the court to error in this discrete portion of the State's opening penalty statement, it should deem the error harmless in the context of the entire trial and deny Defendant's claim.

B. Trial And Appellate Counsel Were Not Ineffective For Not Preserving Or Presenting Issues Related To Certain Jury Instructions

1. The anti-sympathy instruction.

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